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Topic: Johnson-McGhee Building Historic Marker

Date: Sunday, April 7, 2024

Time: 3:00 p.m.

Place: African American Center for Arts, Culture, and History

It's time to place the historic marker for the Johnson-McGhee Building! Enjoy a short lecture
(with refreshments) on the remarkable history of the building and the people associated with it,
then walk over to the corner of Richland and Newberry to help place the marker. Sponsored by
the Aiken County Historical Society.
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The McGhee Block: A Testament to Aiken’s Black History

It was unusual to say the least. A commercial space built, owned, and operated by Blacks that
leased space to White-owned businesses during the Jim Crow days. A Black-owned drugstore
with a soda fountain that served both Blacks and Whites despite segregation elsewhere. This
was the McGhee Block, at the southwest corner of Richland Avenue and Newberry Street, the
one-story white brick building with an angled entryway on the corner.

The McGhee Block, sometimes called the Johnson-McGhee Building, was built in 1920 by Black
cousins Albert and William McGhee. The McGhees were two of Aiken's earliest and most
prominent Black contractors, and they built numerous buildings for both the Black and White
communities between 1904 and 1937, including Aiken’s first hospital and first public school for
Black children (Aiken Graded School), now both gone. But several examples of their work
survive today, such as the gyms at Fermata and the Aiken Prep school and the serpentine wall
around Hopelands Gardens. Many Winter Colony homes or additions to those homes were built
by the McGhees. As one contemporary noted, the McGhees constructed “many of the finest
residences ever raised among the Winter resorts.” Their fine craftsmanship was valued above
color and contributes to Aiken's charm today.

It was daring for Blacks to build a commercial block near “uptown,” as Laurens Street was called
then. The area was dominated by White businesses. The construction coincided with the
“Golden Age” for Aiken’s Black business community between 1900 and 1930. Many Black
businesses opened in Aiken during this period that served both Black and White citizens - tailors,
barbers, blacksmiths, harness makers, brick masons, shoemakers, milliners, and seamstresses.
But most of these businesses were located “downtown” near the train depot. And Blacks were
rarely, if ever, landlords for Whites.
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Dr. C.C. Johnson was a Black physician and pharmacist who established a medical practice in
Aiken about 1905 and became a leader and mentor in the Black medical community. For nearly
25 years he operated a drugstore, the only known Black-owned pharmacy to have operated in
Aiken during the period. His first location was a stand-alone building on Richland Avenue and his
'second was in the Hotel Aiken, but in 1920 he relocated to the eastern corner of the McGhee
Block.

In 1913, he installed a soda fountain at his drugstore, reportedly the only soda fountain in Aiken
that would serve Blacks. It was also popular with Whites, especially the White children who
frequented the city swimming pool in the middle of nearby Newberry Street. Rev. Richard Carroll,
an influential Black South Carolinian of the early 20th century, recalled visiting Johnson’s store in
1921 and said it was “one of the most up-to-date; and | don’t mean of colored drug stores, but of
all drug stores in South Carolina.” Carroll highlighted the diversity of Johnson'’s clientele and
reported his “patronage comes from both races, from the lowest to the highest.”

The influence of the McGhees and Dr. Johnson extended beyond their respective businesses. All
three were leaders in their churches and in fraternal organizations such as the Masonic Lodge,
the colored Knights of Pythias, and the Oddfellows. In 1918, Dr. Johnson applied to the National
Association for the Advancement of Colored People requesting a chapter in Aiken, then all three
became founding members. In the 1920s, the men helped raise the money for the Aiken Graded
School.

The McGhee Block is significant in Aiken’s history, a rare representation of Black
entrepreneurship that flourished during Aiken’s “Golden Age” of Black business and a testament
to the contributions of these Black citizens.
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